 (
P
AR
T
 
EIGH
T
 
OTHE
R
 
REL
E
 
V
AN
T
 
M
 
A
TTER
S
 
) (
75
)

 (
Hazelwood
 
Mine
 
Fire
 
Inquiry
 
Report
 
2015/2016
 
VOLUME
 
II
 
–
 
Investigations
 
into
 
2009–2014
 
deaths
) (
P
A
R
T
 
8
 
OTHER
 
RELE
V
ANT
 
M
A
TTERS
Pursuant
 
to
 
T
erm
 
of Reference
 
12, 
the
 
Board
 is 
required
 
to
 inquire into
 
and 
report
 
on
 
any other
 matter
 
that
 
is 
reasonably
 
incidental 
to
 
its
 
T
erms
 of Reference.
 
A
 
number of incidental
 
matters
 
that
 
warrant
 
discussion
 
have
 
arisen
 from
 
the
 evidence
 
before
 the
 
Board.
Dr
 
Rosemary
 Lester, 
the
 
former
 
Chief
 
Health
 Officer, 
submitted
 
to
 
the
 
Board
 
that
 
the
 
matters
 
raised
 
in
 
this
 
Part
 
of
 
the
 
report
 
do
 
not
 
fall
 
within
 
the
 
scope
 
of
 
T
erm
 
of
 
Reference
 
12
 
because
 
they
 
are
 
not
 
reasonably
 
incidental.
1
 
The
 
Board
 
notes
 
that
 
the
 
meaning
 
of
 
the
 
word
 
‘incidental’
 
is
 
dependent
 
on
 
the
context
 
in
 
which
 
the
 
word
 
is
 
used.
 
In
 
the
 
present
 Inquiry, 
this
 
context
 
includes
 
the
 
findings
 
of
 
the
 
2014
 
Hazelwood
 
Mine
 
Fire
 
Inquiry
 
(see
 
paragraphs
 
3
 
and
 
13(c)
 
of
 
the
 T
erms
 
of
 
Reference).
 
The
 
Board
 
is
 
satisfied
 
that
 
the
 
following
 
matters
 
fall
 
clearly
 
within
 Term
 
of
 
Reference
 
12.
) (
8.1
 
COMMUNICATION
 
AND
 
ENGAGEMENT
 
BY
 
THE
 
DEPARTMENT
 
OF
 
HEALTH
In
 
the
 2014
 
Hazelwood 
Mine
 
Fire
 
Inquiry,
 the
 
Board
 was
 required
 
to
 
inquire
 
into,
 
amongst
 
other
 
matters, the adequacy and 
effectiveness
 of the response to the Hazelwood mine fire by relevant
 
government agencies, including
 
environmental and public
 
health officials.
2
 
The Board found
 
that:
) (
•
) (
While electronic communication has the benefit of speed and access, the best form of 
communicat
ion
 
remains
 
face-to-face.
Much of the frustration the community was experiencing during the mine fire was a result of 
one-way 
communication,
 with
 
government
 
authorities
 
and
 
agencies doing
 much
 of
 the
 
telling
 
and
 talking
 and
 
not
 
enough
 
listening
 
and
 
local
 
engagement.
Some
 
agencies
 
did
 
not
 
adequately
 
express 
empathy,
 concern,
 
care
 and
 
assurance 
to
 
the
 
Latrobe 
Valley
 
community during
 
the
 
mine fire.
3
) (
•
) (
•
) (
In
 
her
 
evidence
 to
 
the
 2014
 
Hazelwood
 Mine
 
Fire
 
Inquiry,
 
Dr
 Lester
 
acknowledged
 shortcomings
 in
 
the Department of 
Health’s
 communication strategy during the mine fire. 
Dr
 Lester stated that ‘the
 
community
 
has
 fed
 back 
to
 us
 that
 
some
 people
 
did
 
not hear
 the
 
message,
 
some
 people
 
did
 
not
 
understand 
the
 
messages,
 
so
 we need
 to
 go
 
back
 
and do
 a
 
thorough
 
review
 of our
 communication
 
strategy…’
4
 
In
 
the 
2014
 
Hazelwood
 Mine
 
Fire
 
Inquiry
 Report,
 the Board
 
commended
 
this
 
review
 as
 
‘appropriate
 
in
 
the circumstances.’
5
During and
 following
 
the
 2014 Hazelwood
 Mine
 
Fire
 
Inquiry,
 
the
 
State
 
committed
 
to
 
more
 openly
 
and effectively 
communicating
 with
 the
 Latrobe 
V
alley
 
community.
 
This
 
commitment
 was 
made
 in
 a
 
number of ways, including:
) (
•
•
) (
written
 
submissions
 
to
 
the
 
Board
 
detailing
 the
 State’s
 commitments
assertions
 by Counsel
 for
 
the
 
State
 outlining 
the
 State’s 
commitments
 during 
the
 Inquiry’s
 
public
 
hearings
 
in
 June
 2014
the
 
State’s
 
acceptance
 
of
 the
 Board’s
 recommendations
 in 
the
 2014
 
Hazelwood
 Mine
 
Fire
 
Inquiry
 Report
the
 
State’s
 
appointment
 
of 
a
 
monitor
 
to
 
report
 
on
 
progress
 
in
 
implementing 
the
 State
’s
 
commitments
 and
 
the 
Board’s
 
recommendations.
6
) (
•
) (
•
) (
The
 
Public
 
Health
 
and 
Wellbeing
 
Act 
2008 
(Vic)
 
(Public
 Health
 
Act)
 
confers
 
various
 
responsibilities
 
on
 the
 
Secretary
 
to
 
the
 Department
 
of
 
Health,
7
 
including to:
support
,
 equip
 
and
 
empower
 communities
 
to 
address
 
local
 
public
 
health
 
issues
 
and
 
needs
8
appoint
 a Chief Health Officer who remains subject to the direction and control of the Secretary 
and whose
 functions
 include
 
developing
 strategies
 
to
 promote and
 
protect
 
public
 
health
 
and
 
wellbeing, and providing advice
 to
 
the
 
Minister
 or 
Secretary
 
on 
matters relating
 
to
 
public
 
health
 
and
 
wellbeing.
9
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The
 
Public
 
Health
 
Act
 
sets
 
out
 
a
 
number
 
of
 
principles
 
that
 
guide
 
the
 
manner
 
in
 
which
 
the
 
Secretary
and
 
Chief
 
Health
 
Officer
 
should
 
administer
 
their
 
responsibilities
 
under
 
the
 
Act.
10
 
These
 
principles
 
include:
) (
•
•
•
) (
collaboration
, 
including
 
with
 
communities 
and
 
individuals
11
evidence
 
based decision-making—decisions 
should
 
be
 based 
on
 
relevant
 
and
 
reliable
 
evidence
12
 
accountability—‘persons who are
 
engaged in
 the
 
administration
 
of 
this
 
Act
 
should
 as 
far
 as
is
 practicable
 
ensure
 that
 
decisions
 
are
 transparent,
 
systematic
 and
 
appropriate’
 
and
 
‘members
 
of 
the
 public
 should
 
therefore
 be
 
given
 
access 
to
 
reliable
 information
 
in appropriate
 forms
to
 
facilitate a
 good
 
understanding
 
of
 
health
 
issues.’
13
) (
These
 
statutory
 
responsibilities
 
mean
 
that
 
the
 
Department of Health was in
 
2014, and 
remains,
 
the
 
appropriate government
 
agenc
y
 to
 
respond
 
to
 
community
 
concerns
 about
 
whether 
the
 Hazelwood
 
mine fire contributed to an increase in deaths in the Latrobe 
Valley.
The
 
Board
 heard
 from
 
Mr
 
Ron
 
Ipsen
,
 
member
 of
 
Voices
 of
 the
 
V
alley
 and
 a
 local Latrobe
 
V
alley
 
resident,
 
that
 
the
 Department of
 
Health did
 
not 
respond
 
to
 
a
 
letter
 sent
 
by
 
Voices
 of
 the
 
V
alley
 
outlining
 
concerns
 about
 
an
 
increase
 
in
 
deaths.
14
 
Mr
 
Ipsen
 explained 
that 
Voices
 
of
 the
 
V
alley
 sent
 its
 
analysis 
 
of
 
the
 death
 
notices published
 
in
 
local papers
 to
 
the
 
Board
 
of
 Inquiry
 on 14
 
August
 2014,
 
because
 
there 
was
 
‘nobody
 
else
 
we
 
trusted.’
15
During 
the
 Inquiry’s public hearings
 
on 
1
 
September
 
2015,
 Senior
 
Counsel
 for
 
the
 
State,
 in
 response
 
to
 
questions
 
posed 
to
 
Ms
 Linda
 
Cristine
,
 
Director,
 
Inquiry
 Response
 
T
eam,
 
Department
 
of Health
 
and
 
Human 
Services,
 
indicated
 that
 
evidence of
 the
 government’s
 engagement
 
with 
Voices
 of
 the
 
V
alley
 
would be
 tendered
 
to
 
the
 Inquiry.
At
 
the
 
public
 
hearings
 
on
 
2
 
September
 
2015,
 
Senior
 
Counsel
 
for
 
the
 
State
 
tendered
 
documents
 
as
 
evidence
 
of
 
interaction
 
between
 
the
 
State
 
and
 Voices 
of
 
the
 
Valley.
 
These
 
documents
 
included
 
five
 
letters,
 
one
 
of
 
which
 
was
 
sent
 
by
 
the
 
Department
 
of
 
Health
 
and
 
two
 
of
 
which
 
were
 
sent
 
by
 
the
 
Minister 
 
for
 
Health,
 
to
 V
oices
 
of
 
the
 
V
alley
. 
The
 
letter
 
from
 
the
 
Department
 
dated
 
28
 
November
 
2014
 
simply
 
refers
 
V
oices
 
of
 
the
 
V
alley
 
to
 
the
 
Department’s
 
website 
and
 
the
 
Hazelwood
 
Mine
 
Fire
 
Health
 Study
.
16
The
 
Board
 
notes
 
that
 
the
 
Health
 
Study
 
is
 
not
 
likely
 
to
 
consider
 
whether
 
the
 
mine
 
fire
 
contributed
 
to
 
an
 
increase
 
in
 
deaths 
in
 
the
 
Latrobe 
V
alley
 
in
 
2014.
17
 
Having designed
 
the
 study
,
 
the
 
Department 
of
 
Health
 
was
 
aware
 
that
 
reference
 
to
 
it
 
may
 
not
 
answer
 
all
 
of
 
the
 
concerns
 
raised
 
by
 
V
oices 
of
 
the
 
V
alley
,
 
in
 
particular
 
concerns
 
about
 
a
 
possible
 
increase
 
in
 
deaths
 
in
 
the
 
Latrobe
 
Valley
 
during
 
the
 
mine
 
fire.
The
 
Board
 heard 
from
 
Ms
 
Cristine
 
that
 one
 
of 
the
 
strategies
 
put
 
in
 
place by
 the
 Department of
 
Health
 
to improve community engagement was to recruit a community engagement officer specifically
for
 
Morwell
.
 
The
 
Board
 
is
 concerned
 
that,
 as at 
the
 
time
 
of
 the
 
public
 
hearings in
 September
 
2015
 
(some
 
12
 months
 after 
the
 2014
 
Hazelwood
 Mine
 
Fire
 
Inquiry
 Report was
 
published),
 this
 
community
 
engagement
 
role
 
had
 
not
 
been
 
filled.
18
In
 
her evidence
 to
 
the
 
Board,
 
Ms
 
Cristine
 
stated
 
that
 
there
 is ‘always
 room
 
for
 us 
to
 
do
 
better and
 
learn
 
from
 
that
 
and we’re open 
to
 that.’
19
 
Senior
 Counsel 
for
 
the
 
State
 also acknowledged
 that
 
‘community
 
consultation
 and
 
engagement
 can 
be
 
improved
 
and
 
should
 be
 
improved’
20
 
and
 conceded that
 
the
 
government has
 
not adequately
 communicated
 and engaged
 
with
 
Voices
 of
 the
 
V
alley
 with
 respect
 
to
 
its
 
concerns.
21
In
 
her 
further
 
supplementary
 
witness 
statement,
 
Dr
 Lester 
stated
 
that
 
she
 
did not agree with 
the
 
proposition
 that
 
she
 had
 failed
 
to
 
communicate
 and
 
engage
 
with
 the
 Latrobe
 
V
alley
 
community.
22
 
 
Dr
 Lester
 
also disagreed
 
with 
the
 proposition 
that
 
the
 Department of
 
Health had
 failed
 
to
 discharge
 
its 
responsibilities
 under
 the
 
Public
 Health
 
Act.
23
 
Dr
 Lester
 further
 disagreed
 that
 
the
 Department
 
of
 
Health’s
 engagement
 
with
 the
 Latrobe
 
V
alley
 
community,
 
in
 relation
 
to
 
concerns
 
raised
 about
 the
 
possible
 
increase
 
in
 
deaths,
 
exacerbated
 
the
 
mistrust
 
of
 the community
 
towards the
 
Department.
24
The
 
Board
 
considers
 
that
 
the
 
Department
 
of
 
Health
 
has
 
not
 
adequately
 
communicated
 
nor
 
meaningfully
 
engaged
 
with
 
V
oices
 
of
 
the
 
V
alley
 
and
 
the
 
community
 
generally
,
 
regarding
 
its
 
concerns
 
about
 
the
 
vital
 
issue
 
of
 
whether
 
the
 
mine
 
fire
 
contributed
 
to
 
an
 
increase
 
in
 
deaths
 
in
 
the
 
Latrobe
 Valley.
 
The
 
Board
 
notes
 
the
 
correspondence
 
produced
 
in
 
evidence
 
during
 
the
 
September
 
public
 
hearings
 
and
 
considers
 
that
 
it
 
does
 
not
 
demonstrate
 
appropriate
 
consultation
 
or
 
engagement
 
by
 
the
 
Department
 
with
 
V
oices
 
of
 
the
 
V
alley
.
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The
 
Board
 also
 considers
 
that
 
since
 
the
 
publication
 
of
 the
 
2014
 
Hazelwood
 Mine
 
Fire
 
Inquiry
 Report
 
the
 
Department of
 
Health does not
 
appear 
to
 have 
met
 its
 responsibilities
 
under
 the
 
Public
 
Health
 
Act
 
as 
they
 
relate
 
to
 
community
 
collaboration
 and
 
engagement
 
about
 the
 
issue
 
of
 
whether
 there
 
has
 
been
 
an
 
increase
 
in
 
deaths
 
in
 the
 Latrobe
 
V
alley
.
) (
8.2
 
INVESTIGATIONS
 
UNDERTAKEN
 
BY
 
AND
 
ON
 
BEHALF
 
OF
 
DR
 
LESTER
From
 
September
 2014,
 
Dr
 Lester
 responded
 in 
various
 ways
 to
 
concerns
 
raised
 by 
Voices
 
of
 the
 
V
alley
 about
 a
 possible
 
increase
 
in
 
deaths
 
in
 the
 Latrobe
 
V
alley
 
during
 
and
 following
 
the
 Hazelwood
 
mine fire.
 
These included:
) (
•
) (
reviewing
 
the
 
death
 records
 
provided by
 the
 Victorian
 Registry
 
of 
Births,
 Deaths
 
and 
Marriages
 
to
 
the 
Department
 
of
 
Health
 
on
 
3
 
September 
2014
25
likely
 
reviewing
 
the
 
brief
 for
 
a
 
media
 
release
 
statement
 
from
 
the
 
Department
 
of
 
Health 
sent
 
to
 
the
 
Australian Broadcasting
 Corporation
 
(ABC) 
7.30
 
Report
 
p
rogram
 
on
 
11
 
September 
2014
26
personally
 
sourcing
 
and
 
briefing
 
a
 
consultant
 
to
 
undertake
 
an
 
independent
 
analysis
 
of
 
the
 
death
 
records
 
produced
 
by
 
the
 
Victorian
 
Registry
 
of
 
Births,
 
Deaths
 
and
 
Marriages
 
on
 
3
 
September
 
2014
approving
 
several
 
factsheets
 
that
 were published
 
on
 the
 
Department
 
of 
Health’s
 
website
 
in
 
September
 
and
 
October
 
2014
27
reviewing
 
and
 
providing
 comments
 
on
 
draft
 reports
 
produced
 
by
 the
 
consultant
 engaged
 
by
 the
 
Department
 
of
 
Health
28
briefing
 
the
 
Minister
 
for
 
Health.
29
) (
•
) (
•
) (
•
) (
•
) (
•
) (
A
 
number
 
of
 these
 
actions
 
are discussed
 
in
 more
 
detail
 
below.
) (
ENGAGEMENT
 
WITH
 
VOICES
 
OF
 
THE
 
VALLEY
 
The
 
Board
 
heard
 from
 
Mr
 
Ipsen
 
that
 
requests
 
made
 
by
 
Voices
 of
 the
 
V
alley
 to
 
the
 Victorian
 
Registry
 
of 
Births,
 Deaths
 
and 
Marriages,
 
on
 
27 
May
 2014 and 12
 June
 
2014,
 
went unanswered. 
Voices
 
of 
the
V
alley
 
made
 
a
 
further
 
request
 
to
 
the
 Registry
 
on 
4
 
August
 2014
 
and
 received
 
a
 
response
 on
 
14
 
August
 
2014
 that the request
 was
 
being
 
considered.
30
The
 
Board
 
also
 
heard
 
evidence
 
that
 
the
 
Victorian
 
Registry
 
of
 
Births,
 
Death
 
and
 
Marriages
 
contacted
 
the
 
Department
 
of
 
Health
 
in
 
relation
 
to
 
data
 
requested
 
by
 
Dr
 
Michael
 
Gunter
,
 
a
 
Latrobe
 
V
alley
 
resident
associated
 
with
 
V
oices 
of
 
V
alley
.
 
The
 
Registry
 
suggested
 
to
 
the
 
Department
 
that
 
it
 
address
 
the
 
questions
 
and
 
concerns
 
raised
 
by
 
V
oices
 
of
 
the
 
V
alley
.
31
 
In
 
response,
 
Dr
 
Lester
 
advised
 
the
 
Registry
 
that
[
y]our
 
decision
 
on
 
his
 
request
 
is
 
obviously
 
yours;
 
if
 
you
 
refer
 
him
 
to
 
us
 
my
 
response
 
will
 
be
 
that
 
there
 
has
 
been
 
an
 
independent
 
inquiry
 
into
 
the
 
fire,
 
and
 
we
 
have
 
nothing
 
further
 
to
 
add.
 
Obviously
 
his
 
“research” 
is
 
up
 
to
 
him.
32
On
 
4
 
September
 
2014,
 the
 
Registry
 
determined 
to
 provide 
the
 data 
requested
 by 
Voices
 
of 
the
 
V
alley
 
in 
the
 
form
 of 
monthly
 death
 records
 without information
 
on
 cause
 
of
 
death.
Mr
 
Ipsen
 
explained 
to
 
the
 
Board
 
that
 
Voices
 of 
the
 
V
alley
 was able
 to
 
pay 
the
 
Registry’s
 invoice 
for
 
production of
 the
 data
 
because
 
‘we
 
had
 a
 little
 
bucket
 there
 and had
 
people
 
put
 a
 dollar
 
or
 two
 in
 
and we
 
had our
 membership
 
fees,
 
you
 
know,
 
a
 
dollar,
 and
 
we 
collected
 $600
 
and 
spent
 $550 of
 
that
 
buying
 these
 
statistics.’
33
 
The
 
Board
 
notes
 that
 
the
 
Registry’s
 invoice
 
was
 
in 
fact
 $485.
34
The
 
Board
 heard 
that
 
the
 
Registry
 
also 
forwarded
 
the
 
data
 requested
 
by
 
Voices
 of
 the
 
V
alley
 to
 
the
 
Department of
 
Health,
 
and 
subsequently
 
forwarded
 
further
 updated death
 records
 
to
 
the
 Department,
 
which 
contained
 
more
 
detailed
 
information 
than
 
that
 provided 
to
 
Voices
 of
 the
 
V
alley
.
 
This
 
second
 
set
 
of data
 consisted
 of
 
daily death
 records
 
rather
 
than
 
mon
thly
 
records
 and
 contained
 
information
 
on
 
cause
 of
 
death.
35
 
The
 Department
 
of
 
Health
 
was
 
not
 
required
 
to 
pay
 for the
 
data.
36
Counsel
 
for
 
the
 
State
 informed
 
the
 
Board
 
that
 
the
 
State
 intends 
to
 
reimburse
 Voices
 of 
the
 
V
alley
 
the amount
 
it paid to
 
the Registry
 
to obtain
 
the data.
 
The Board
 
affirms this
 
decision.
37
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ENGAGEMENT
 
OF
 
AN
 
EXPERT
 
TO
 
ANALYSE
 
DEATH
 
RECORDS
 
As
 discussed in
 Part
 
3
 
of
 this
 
report,
 
the
 
Board
 
heard 
that
 
Dr
 Lester directly
 contacted
 
Professor
 
T
erry
 
Nolan at
 the
 
Melbourne
 
School
 
of
 Population
 
and
 Global
 
Health,
 
University of
 Melbourne,
 
to
 
request
 
that
 
the
 
School
 
undertake
 
an analysis
 
of
 the
 
death
 records
 
supplied
 by 
the
 
Registry,
 
and 
to
 provide an
 
opinion about whether there was an increase in deaths in the Latrobe 
Valley
 during the mine fire. 
Dr
 
Lester’s
 contact
 with
 Professor
 Nolan
 
was
 made
 by
 telephone
 and
 then
 by
 
email
 
dated
 
16
 September
 
2014. 
In
 
this
 initial
 contact, 
Dr
 Lester
 requested
 
a
 ‘quick’
 
review
 
of
 the
 death
 records
 
data.
38
The
 
Board
 
received
 
evidence
 that
 on 16
 September
 2014, 
the
 Department
 
of Health
 
entered
 
into
 
a
 
contract
 with
 the
 
Melbourne
 
School
 of
 Population
 
and
 Global
 Health,
 
University of
 Melbourne,
 
to 
undertake
 
the
 
analysis.
39
The
 
Board
 
considers
 
that,
 in 
the
 
circumstances
 
and
 
because of
 the
 
importance
 
of 
the
 issue, 
the
 
Department 
should
 have engaged
 
in
 a
 
competitive
 quote process
 that
 included 
consideration
 of
 
other
 
relevant
 
experts
 to
 undertake 
this
 analysis.
Dr
 Le
ster confirmed that the 
Department’s
 initial engagement with the Melbourne School of Population
 
and 
Global
 Health
 
was 
a
 
contract
 of just
 
over
 
$3,000.
 In
 
answer
 to
 
a
 
question
 from
 Counsel
 
Assisting
 
about whether it was normal for the Chief Health Officer to be in charge of a contract of that size,
Dr
 Lester
 told
 
the
 
Board
 
that
 
these
 were quite
 
unusual
 circumstances
 
and
 that
 
as
 
it
 
was 
such
 an
 
important issue,
 she
 
felt
 
that
 
she
 needed 
to
 
take
 personal
 carriage
 
of
 
it.
40
Dr
 Lester
 told
 
the
 
Board
 
that
 
she
 accepted 
Professor
 
Nolan’s
 delegation
 
of
 the
 
data
 
analysis 
to
 
Dr
 
Flander
 
and
 
did
 
not
 
inquire into
 
Dr
 
Flander’s
 
background
 
or expertise
 
other
 than
 being aware
 that
 
Dr
 
Flander
 was
 a 
longstanding
 
employee
 
o
f
 
the
 School.
41
 
The
 
Melbourne
 
School 
of
 Population
 and
Global
 
Health
 
was
 
engaged 
to
 provide
 two
 
further
 
reports, 
one of
 
which
 
was 
the
 
critique
 of
 
Associate
 
Professor
 
Barnett’s
 
analysis. 
On
 both occasions,
 the
 work was
 
delegated 
to
 
Dr
 
Flander
.
Dr
 Lester
 
was
 
asked
 
by
 Board
 
Member
 
Professor
 
Catford
 
if
 
it was
 
‘helpful’
 
to
 have
 
Dr
 
Flander
 peer
 
review
 
the
 work
 
of
 
Associate
 
Professor
 
Barnett
 
in
 these
 
circumstances.
 
Dr
 
Lester’s
 reply
 
was
 that
 
she
 
didn’t
 see
 it
 
as
 
inappropriate
 
and
 that
 it
 
was
 
an
 
extension
 
of
 the
 original
 request
 
to
 
Dr
 
Flander
.
42
The
 
Board
 
considers
 
that
 
Dr
 
Flander
 was an
 
inappropriate 
choice
 of expert
 to
 
review
 
Associate
 
Professor
 
Barnett’s
 
work,
 
because
 she
 had
 
already
 
undertaken
 
her own
 
analysis
 
of
 the
 data
 
and
 
provided an
 
opinion
 
on it
 
in
 September
 
2014.
 
The
 
Board
 
considers
 
that
 
a
 
review
 of
 
both
 
Associate
 
Professor
 
Barnett’s
 
analysis
 
and
 
Dr
 
Flander’s
 
analysis
 should
 
have
 
been
 commissioned
 
to
 
a
 
third
 
party
 
who
 
had
 
not
 
already
 formed
 an
 
opinion
 
about
 
what
 the
 data
 showed.
In
 
her
 
evidence
 
to
 
the
 
Board,
 
Dr
 
Lester
 
accepted
 
that
 
it
 
was
 
important
 
that
 
the
 
University
 
of
 
Melbourne
 
be
 
engaged
 
in
 
such
 
a
 
way
 
that
 
maintained
 
its
 
complete
 
independence 
from
 
the
 
Department.
43
 
The
 
Board
 
considers
 
that
 
the
 
approach
 
taken
 
by
 
Dr
 
Lester
 
and
 
those
 
who
 
took
 
over
 
management
 
of
 
the
 
consultancy
 
after
 
Dr
 
Lester’s
 
retirement
 
in
 
February
 
2015,
 
did
 
not
 
serve
 
to
 
maintain
 
this
 
independence.
Counsel
 
Assisting
 
the
 
Board
 asked
 
Dr
 
Lester 
whether,
 
having
 regard
 
to
 
criticisms
 
made
 in 
the
 2014
 
Hazelwood 
Mine
 
Fire
 
Inquiry
 Report about
 some
 of
 the
 
Department’s
 
responses
 in
 relation
 
to
 
the
 
mine
 
fire under her 
authority,
 it might have been appropriate for someone else to manage an investigation
 
into possible deaths caused by the mine fire. Counsel
 
Assisting reiterated this question in terms of whether 
Dr
 Lester considered that she might have had a conflict of interest in personally engaging the 
Melbourne
 
School
 of
 Population
 and
 Global
 Health
 
to
 undertake
 
an
 
analysis
 
of
 the 
death
 
records.
44
 
Dr
 
Leste
r
 
did
 
not
 
agree
 she should
 have
 remained
 at
 
arm’s
 
length
 
in
 relation to
 
the
 process.
45
 
She stated:
No,
 
I
 
don’t
 
believe
 
that
 
I
 
had
 
a
 
conflict
 
of
 
interest.
 
I
 
went
 
to
 
the
 
University
 
of
 
Melbourne
 
as
 
a 
very
 
reputable
 
internationally
 
recognised
 
unit
 
of
 
epidemiology
 
and
 
biostatistics
 
that
 
were
 
quite
 
independent
 
from
 
anything
 
that
 
had
 
been
 
to
 
do
 
with
 
the
 
fire
 
and
 
I
 
thought
 
they
 
would
 
bring
 
a
 
very 
expert
 
independent
 set 
of
 
eyes
 to the
 
data.
46
The
 
Board
 is
 
of 
the
 
view
 
that
 
the
 
Department’s
 
overall process
 
in
 seeking
 
an
 
analysis
 from
 
the
 
Melbourne
 
School 
of
 Population 
and
 
Global
 Health
 
lacked
 
rigour
.
47
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APPROVAL
 
OF
 
THE
 
DEPARTMENT
 
OF
 
HEALTH’S
 
FACTSHEETS
 
The
 
Department
 
of
 
Health
 
published
 three
 
factsheets
 in 
September
 and
 October
 2014
 
about
 
whether
 
there was an increase in deaths during the Hazelwood mine fire.
 
The content of these factsheets
is
 discussed in 
Part
 
3
 of 
this
 
report.
The
 
Board
 has
 reviewed
 
the
 
factsheet
 dated
 
17
 September
 2014
 
and
 the
 later-published
 factsheet
 
dated September 2014, and has noted the following:
) (
•
) (
The
 
factsheets
 only
 reference
 
comparative
 number
 
of deaths
 for
 
years
 
where
 these
 numbers
 
were 
similar.
 For
 example,
 the
 number
 
of deaths
 
in
 
Morwell
 in
 January–June
 2014 is
 
only
 
compared
 
with
 the
 
same
 period
 
in
 
2009,
 
2010
 
and
 
2012.
 
Y
ears
 
where
 the
 difference between
 
the
 
number
 
of
 
deaths in
 that
 
year
 and in
 
2014
 
is greater
 (for 
example
 
2011
 
and
 
2013
),
 
are
 
not
 
referenced.
 
The
 
same
 is noted
 
in
 relation
 
to
 
the
 
reporting
 
for
 
the
 
February–March
 
and
 January–
 
June
 
periods 
for
 
Traralgon
.
There
 
was
 
no
 
reference
 
in
 
the
 
factsheets
 
to
 
the
 
11 
per
 
cent
 
increase
 
in
 
deaths
 
between
 
January–
 
June
 
2009–2013
 
and
 
the
 
same
 
period
 
in
 
2014
 
in
 
Morwell
;
 
whilst
 
the
 
19
 
per
 
cent
 
decrease
 
in
 
deaths
 
between
 
the
 
period
 
February–March
 
2009–2013
 
and
 
the
 
same
 
period
 
in
 
2014
 
are
 
referenced.
There
 
was
 
no
 reference
 in
 the
 
factsheets
 
to
 
the
 40 per
 cent
 increase
 
in
 
deaths
 
between
 
February–March
 
2009–2013
 
and
 
the
 
same 
period
 
in
 
2014
 
in
 
Traralgon
.
48
) (
•
) (
•
) (
The Board notes that the two September factsheets, which indicate that the mine fire has not 
contributed
 
to
 an
 
increase
 
in deaths
 
in
 the
 Latrobe
 
V
alley
,
 were
 
published
 
before
 the
 Department of
 
Health had
 received
 any
 
advice
 from
 
the
 
Melbourne
 
School
 
of
 Population
 and
 Global
 Health
 
about
 
whether
 
the 
data
 
supported this
 
account.
49
Dr
 
Lester
 
acknowledged
 
that
 
whilst
 
the
 
number
 
of
 
deaths
 
(88)
 
in
 
Morwell
 
for
 
the
 
period
 
January
 
to
 
June
 
2014
 
was
 
recorded
 
in
 
the
 
factsheets,
 
the
 
factsheets
 
did
 
not
 
state
 
that
 
this
 
number
 
was
 
higher
 
than
 
the
 
number
 
of
 
deaths
 
for
 
the
 
same
 
period
 
in
 
2011
 
(67
 
deaths)
 
and
 
2013
 
(64
 
deaths).
50
 
In
 
answer
 
to
 
a
 
question
 
from
 
Counsel
 
Assisting
 
about
 
why
 
the
 
numbers
 
of
 
deaths
 
in
 
2011
 
and
 
2013
 
were
 
not
 
referenced,
 
Dr
 
Lester
 
said
 
‘well,
 
is
 
it
 
not
 
self-evident
 
that
 
if
 
someone
 
is
 
suggesting
 
it’s
 
a
 
higher
 
figure
you
 
look
 
back
 
and
 
say
 
well,
 
it’s
 
actually
 
similar
 
to
 
some
 
previous
 
years.
 
I
 
don’t
 
quite
 
understand
 
why
 
you
 
think
 
we
 
should
 
then
 
make
 
reference
 
to
 
every
 
other
 
figure.’
51
Dr
 Lester
 
agreed 
that
 
the
 
increase
 
in deaths
 
in
 
Traralgon
 
in
 
2014, 
compared
 with 
the
 average
 for
 
the previous five years, was 40 per cent. 
Dr
 Lester agreed that this increase was considerably more 
than
 
the
 19 per
 cent
 decrease 
that
 was
 referred
 
to
 
(in
 bold 
type
 
face)
 in 
the
 
factsheet
 in 
relation
 
to
 
Morwell
.
52
 
In 
answer
 to
 
a
 question
 
from
 Counsel
 
Assisting
 about
 
why
 the
 
factsheet
 did
 
not
 
give
 a
complete
 
picture
 to
 
the
 
reader
 by
 referring
 
to
 
the
 percentage
 change
 
in
 
number
 
of deaths
 
in
 
all
 towns,
 
rather than just 
Morwell
, 
Dr
 Lester answered:
Morwell
 
is
 
obviously
 
the
 
key
 
town
 
of
 
question
 
because
 
Morwell
 
was
 
very
 
much
 
more
 
exposed
 
to
 
the
 
smoke
 
than
 
the
 
other
 
towns.
 
So
 
if
 
we
 
were
 
to
 
see
 
an
 
effect
 
of
 
the
 
fire
 
we
 
should
 
see
 
it
 
in
 
Morwell
.
 
Therefore
 
it
 
makes
 
logical
 
sense
 
to
 
treat
 
Morwell
 
differently
 
to
 
the
 
other
 
towns
 
and
 
in
 
any
 
case,
 
as
 
I
 
said,
 
the
 
data
 
we
 
presented
 
in
 
the
 
table
 
so
 
that
 
the
 
community
 
could
 
see
 
what
 
the
 
actual
 
figures
 
were.
53
Dr
 Lester agreed 
that
 
the
 
table
 
referred
 
to
 
was not published in 
the
 
17
 September
 
2014 
factsheet.
 
She
 
stated
 
that
 
the
 
complete
 
number of deaths was published in 
the
 later 
factsheet,
 
dated 
September
 
2014,
 so
 
that the
 
reader
 
could 
draw
 their
 own
 
conclusions
 on
 the 
data.
54
Dr
 Lester agreed 
that
 
the
 
provision of accurate and 
complete
 
information
 
was of 
the
 
utmost
 
importance, especially
 
in
 the
 
context
 of
 the
 
concerns
 
raised
 by
 the
 Latrobe
 
V
alley
 community
 about
 
the Department
 
of 
Health’s
 
response
 
to the
 
mine fire
 
and
 
its health
 
impacts.
55
When asked by Counsel
 
Assisting whether she was satisfied that the Department of 
Health’s
 factsheet
 
dated 17
 September
 2014
 
provided
 
accurate and
 complete
 information
 to
 
the
 
community,
 
Dr
 
Lester
 
responded
 
that
 
she
 
was
 
satisfied.
56
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Counsel
 
Assisting
 
suggested
 
to
 
Dr
 Lester
 that
 
there
 was
 a
 
degree
 
of 
selectivity
 about 
the
 presentation
 
of 
the
 
information in
 the
 
Department of 
Health’s
 factsheet
 
dated 17 
September
 2014 in an
 
attempt 
to
 
support an argument that there was no relationship between the mine fire and any increase in deaths. 
Dr
 Lester
 told
 
the
 
Board
 
that
 
the
 
17
 September
 2014 
factsheet
 accurately
 
described 
the
 data
 seen
 at
 
the
 
time
 and
 that
 it
 
indicated
 that
 
further
 expert
 
opinion
 
on
 the
 data
 
was
 
being
 
sought.
57
 
In
 her
 further
 
supplementary statement, 
Dr
 Lester:
) (
•
•
•
) (
stated
 
that
 
the 
information
 
in
 
the
 
factsheets
 was
 
accurate
 
and
 
clear
58
disputed
 
that
 
the
 
factsheets
 breached
 the
 
requirements
 of
 the
 
Public
 Health
 
Act
59
 
disputed
 that she 
had
 misled the 
public.
60
) (
It
 
is 
the
 
view
 
of 
the
 
Board
 
that
 
it was of 
the
 
utmost importance 
that
 
the
 
Department of Health
 
communicated
 openly
 
and
 
accurately
 
about
 
all
 the
 information
 
it
 
had
 
on
 
any
 
link
 
between
 
an
 
apparent
 
increase in deaths in the Latrobe 
Valley
 and the mine fire.
 
This was especially important in light of
 
criticism
 
of
 the
 Department
 
in
 the
 2014 Hazelwood
 Mine
 
Fire
 
Inquiry
 Report.
The
 
Board
 has
 carefully
 
reviewed
 
the
 Department
 
of 
Health’s
 factsheets
 and
 
has
 considered
 
the
 
opinions of 
Dr
 Lester about their contents.
 
The Board is not satisfied that the factsheets presented 
an accurate
 
and
 
adequately
 complete
 picture
 
about
 the
 
mortality
 
rate 
in
 the
 Latrobe
 
V
alley
 
in
 
2014
 
relative to the earlier five years.
The
 
Board
 
considers
 
that
 
the
 
factsheets
 
published
 
by
 the
 
Department
 
of
 
Health and
 
approved
 
by
 
Dr
 Lester
 
were,
 
in
 material
 
respects, 
incomplete,
 misleading
 
and
 
unbalanced,
 
and
 failed
 
to
acknowledge
 uncertainties concerning the number of deaths in the Latrobe 
Valley
 during the mine fire.
) (
REVIEWING
 
AND
 
COMMENTING
 
ON
 
DRAFT
 
REPORTS
 
OF
 
THE
 
CONSULTANT
 
Dr
 
Flander
 provided
 three
 
reports
 
to
 
the
 
Department
 
of
 
Health. 
Each
 of
 these
 
reports
 went
 through
 
several drafts—the
 
first report,
 
dated 26
 
September 
2014,
61
 
went
 
through
 at
 
least
 
three
 drafts;
62
 
the
 
second
 
report, 
dated
 
28
 
April 
2015,
63
 
went
 through 
at
 
least
 
two
 drafts;
64
 
and
 
the
 
third report, 
dated 
 
4
 
June 
2015,
65
 
went
 
through 
at
 
least
 
three 
drafts.
66
The
 
Board
 
received
 
evidence
 that
 
demonstrates
 that
 
both
 
Dr
 Lester
 (before
 
she
 
retired
 
in
 February
 
2015) and departmental officers (thereafter) provided extensive commentary to 
Dr
 
Flander
 on drafts of these reports
 
prior to
 
them being 
finalised
.
67
 
This commentary
 
related to
 
substantial
 
content 
in
 
the reports and led to substantial changes to content before the reports were 
finalised
. In 
particular,
 
the
 
Department
 
of Health
 communicated
 
to
 
Dr
 
Flander
,
 at
 various
 
stages
 during her
 
engagement,
 
the
 
proposition
 that
 
the
 data
 
did not
 show
 an
 
increase
 
in 
deaths
 
in
 the
 Latrobe
 
V
alley
.
 
This
 was
 
communicated
 in
 the Project
 Brief
68
 
and
 
in
 
emails
 to
 
Dr
 
Flander
 about
 
report
 
content
 before
 
the
 
reports
 
were
 
finalised
.
69
For example, after 
Dr
 Lester had received what 
was described by 
Dr
 
Flander
 as a ‘final report’
 
under 
cover
 of
 
an
 
email
 
dated
 
23
 September
 2014,
70
 
she
 
responded
 
shortly
 after
 
with
 
an
 
email
 seeking
 
further changes to the report. 
Dr
 Lester’s email included the following: ‘One of the things that gives us
 
comfort
 
that
 
this
 is nothing
 more
 
than
 
random
 
variation
 
is
 the
 
increase 
[in
 deaths] was
 
greatest in
 Moe
 
postcode which
 
is
 
13
 
km
 
away
 
from
 
the
 
fire.’
71
When asked by Counsel
 
Assisting what comfort the Chief Health Officer could draw from an increase
 of ten in the number of deaths in Moe in 2014 compared to the previous five years, 
Dr
 Lester said:
‘All I can go back to is saying what we’re looking at here is, are these increased deaths caused by fire, 
and 
the
 information
 that
 we have
 suggests
 
that
 
tha
t
 is not
 the
 likely
 
explanation.’
72
The following exchange then occurred between Counsel
 
Assisting and 
Dr
 Lester:
Counsel
 
Assisting:
 
What
 
you
 
meant
 
by
 
the
 
phrase
 
‘gives
 
you
 
comfort’
 
is
 
that
 
it
 
fitted
 
with
 
your
 
position,
 your theory about there being no connection between the fire and the deaths?
Dr
 Lester: 
Well,
 it fits with basic principles of causation, cause and 
effect.
Counsel
 
Assisting:
 
Did
 
it
 
occur
 
to
 
you
 
that
 
by
 
so
 
clearly
 
stating
 
your
 
position,
 
that
 
you
 
were 
compromising
 
Dr
 
Flander’s
 
independence
 
in
 
her
 
analysis?
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Dr
 
Lester:
 
I
 
think,
 
as
 
I
 
said,
 
that
 
Professor
 Nolan’s 
unit
 
is
 
extremely
 
highly
 
regarded
 
and
 
I
 
don’t
 
think
 
that
 
any of his staff would 
compromise
 
themselves
 because of 
a
 
public 
servant.
Counsel
 
Assisting:
 
Why
 
was
 
it
 
necessary
 
to
 
state
 
your
 
position
 
at
 
all
 
in
 
correspondence
 
with
 
Dr
 
Flander
 
if
 
what
 you
 wanted her
 to
 do
 
was an
 
objective
 
analysis
 
of 
the
 data?
Dr
 Lester:
 
Yes,
 
I don’t
 
know
 
why
 
I included
 
that
 
there.
73
A
 
further
 example is
 
provided by
 
an email
 sent
 
by
 the
 
Department
 
after 
Dr
 
Lester 
retired.
 
On
 27
 
March
 
2015, after
 
Dr
 
Flander
 
had
 submitted
 
a
 draft 
report
 
(dated
 13 
March
 2015) 
to
 
the
 Department
 
of Health,
 
which
 
assessed
 
Associate
 
Professor
 Barnett’s
 
analysis of
 the
 death
 records,
 
she
 
received
 
two
 pages
 
of
 comments 
by
 
email
 from
 
a Senior
 
Medical
 
Advisor
 
from the
 Department
 
of
 
Health.
74
 
Comments numbered ‘2’
 
and
 
‘6’
 
suggested
 
that
 
substantive
 
changes
 
be 
made
 
to
 
the
 
draft.
Comment 2 included the following text: 
‘Alternatively,
 is it possible that the conclusion could be drawn
 
instead 
that
 
the
 data presented
 
do not 
suggest
 
strong
 
evidence
 for
 
the
 
author’s
 
hypothesis 
tha
t
 
the
 
fire had an 
effect
 
on 
mortality.’
75
 
Comment
 6
 
made
 
reference to
 ‘our
 
interpretation’
 
of
 
the
 data
 
and
 
suggested that
 
Associate Professor 
Barnett’s
 conclusion about the fire having caused an increase in
 
deaths
 
‘needs
 
to 
be
 
challenged more 
directly.’
76
Asked
 
by
 
Counsel
 
Assisting
 if
 such
 
comments
 
to
 an independent
 consultant
 were
 
acceptable
 
practice
 
within 
the
 Department of
 
Health,
 
Ms
 
Cristine
 told
 
the
 
Board
 
that
 
‘there
 
is
 
no 
rule
 book 
for
 us
 
as public
 
servants
 in
 
providing
 feedback
 
to
 consultants.’
77
 
Ms
 
Cristine
 
accepted
 that
 
a
 
comment
 asking
 for
 
a
 
conclusion
 
to
 be
 
altered
 
would be
 
inconsistent
 
with
 
‘engaging people
 
independently
 to
 
come
 
up
 
with
 
an
 
independent
 
conclusion.’
78
The
 
next
 
draft
 
of
 
this
 
report
 
was
 
dated
 
8
 
April
 
2015.
79
 
As
 
foreshadowed
 
in
 
her
 
email
 
to
 
the
 
Department
 
of
 
Health
 
dated
 
27
 
March
 
2015,
80
 
Dr
 
Flander
 
incorporated
 
all
 
of
 
the
 
comments
 
that
 
had
 
been
 
sent
 
to
 
her
 
into
 
the
 
report.
 
For
 
example,
 
the
 
suggestion
 
that
 
the
 
phrase
 
‘plausible
 
hypothesis…“really
 
means”…supposition
 
worthy
 
of
 
investigation’
 
was
 
re-worded
 
by
 
Dr
 
Flander
 
in
 
her
 
report
 
in
 
precisely
 
the
 
suggested
 
manner
.
81
Dr
 
Flander
 
agreed
 
that
 
the
 
Department
 
of
 
Health
 
had
 
on
 
more
 
than
 
one
 
occasion
 
communicated
 
its
 
view
 
to
 
her
 
about
 
how
 
the
 
mortality
 
data
 
should
 
be
 
interpreted.
82
 
However
, 
she
 
denied
 
that
 
she
 
had
 
adopted 
 
the
 
Department’s
 
suggestions
 
without
 
sufficient
 
reflection.
 
Dr
 
Flander
 
told
 
the
 
Inquiry
 
that
 
what
 
she
 
meant
 
in
 
her
 
email
 
of
 
27
 
March
 
2015
 
was
 
that
 
she
 
would
 
consider
 
all
 
of
 
the
 
suggestions.
83
 
Dr
 
Flander
 
maintained
 
that
 
her
 
work
 
was
 
independent
 
of
 
the
 
Department
 
and
 
was
 
not
 
a
 
collaborative
 
piece
 
of
 
work.
84
The
 
Board
 
considers
 
it
 concerning
 
that
 in
 the
 
three
 
reports
 
provided
 to
 
the
 
Department
 
of Health
 
by
 
Dr
 
Flander
,
 
there
 
is no disclosure
 
of 
the
 
changes
 
that
 
were
 made
 
to
 
earlier drafts in 
response
 
to
 
comments made by departmental officers.
Dr
 Lester
 
did
 
not
 
agree
 
with 
the
 
suggestion
 put
 
by
 
Counsel
 
Assisting
 
that
 
she
 did
 
not
 
want an
 
objective
 
analysis 
from
 
Dr
 
Flander
,
 
but 
rather
 an analysis
 
of 
the
 data
 that
 
supported
 
the
 
Department
 
of 
Health’s
 
stated position that there was no link between the deaths and the mine fire. 
Dr
 Lester maintained that 
she
 
sought 
an
 
objective
 
analysis
 
of
 the 
data.
85
The Board considers that the Department of 
Health’s
 final factsheet 
on this issue, dated 22 October
 
2014, 
clearly
 
demonstrates
 that
 
the
 Department of Health
 
wanted 
to
 present an impression
 to
 
the
 
public 
that
 
it
 
had obtained 
reputable
 independent advice and
 that
 
the
 
advice
 supported
 
its position
 that
 
there was no link between the increase in deaths in the Latrobe 
Valley
 and the mine fire.
The
 
Board
 
considers
 
that
 
the
 
process of obtaining an independent opinion on 
matters
 of public
 
significance should be transparent, systematic and appropriate in line w
ith the requirements for 
decision-making in
 the
 
Public
 Health
 
Act. 
Having examined
 
all of
 the
 numerous lengthy
 
emails
 from
 
the
 
Department 
to
 
Dr
 
Flander
 
commenting
 
on her draft 
reports
 and 
suggesting
 
changes
 
to
 
those
 
drafts
 
  
on 
matters
 of 
substance
 
and opinion, 
the
 
Board
 
does
 
not 
consider
 
that
 
the
 
Department of Health
 
engaged in
 a
 
process
 that
 
was
 transparent
 or appropriate.
) (
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ACTUAL
 
OR
 
PERCEIVED
 
CONFLICT
 
OF
 
INTEREST
 
Until her
 retirement
 in
 February
 2015,
 
Dr
 
Lester
 maintained
 
control
 over
 the
 Department
 
of
 
Health’s
 
investigation about whether there was an increase in deaths associated with the Hazelwood mine fire.
Dr
 Lester assumed this role despite the controversy surrounding her conduct during the mine fire itself. 
Dr
 Lester was the subject of criticism and adverse findings by the Board of the 2014 Hazelwood
Mine
 
Fire
 Inquiry,
 
particularly 
regarding
 
the
 
timing
 of 
the
 Department of
 
Health’s
 advice
 that
 
vulnerable
 
people should
 
temporarily relocate
 
from the
 
southern areas
 
of
 
Morwell
 during
 
the mine
 
fire.
86
In
 
these
 
circumstances,
 
the
 
Board
 
considers
 
that
 
Dr
 Lester
 showed
 
a
 lack of
 
judgment in
 
deciding 
to
 
manage the investigation about whether the mine fire contributed to an increase in deaths. It should have been clear to 
Dr
 Lester that the community may well have difficulty accepting the results of an 
investigation
 
that
 
she
 
managed.
The
 
Board
 
was
 
informed
 
that
 
following
 
Dr
 
Lester’s
 
retirement
 
in
 
February
 
2015,
 
Dr
 
Lester’s
 
acting
 
replacement
 
in
 
the
 
role
 
of
 
Chief
 
Health
 
Officer,
 
Dr
 
Michael
 
Ackland
,
 
did
 
not
 
take
 
over
 
management
 
of
 
the
 
investigation.
 
Instead,
 
that
 
task
 
reverted
 
to
 
the
 
health
 
protection
 
branch
 
and
 
was
 
managed
 
by
 
a
departmental
 
official
 
in
 
that
 
branch
 
and
 
a
 
senior
 
medical
 
advisor
 
in
 
the
 
Office
 
of
 
the
 
Chief
 
Health
 
Officer.
87
Dr
 Lester
 
was
 
unable
 to
 
explain
 to
 
the
 
Board
 why 
she
 personally
 managed
 
the
 
investigation,
 
other
 
than to
 
say she did not see any conflict of interest in doing 
so,
88
 
and
 that
 
she
 
felt
 
she
 needed
 to
 
because it was
 
an issue
 
of such
 
‘significance and
 
importance to
 
the people of
 
the Latrobe
 
Valley.’
89
The
 
Board
 
considers
 
that
 
Dr
 
Lester’s
 
investigations
 
into
 
whether
 
the
 
mine
 
fire
 
contributed
 
to
 
deaths
 
in
 
the
 
Latrobe
 
Valley
 
gave
 
rise
 
to
 
a
 
real
 
or
 
perceived
 
conflict
 
of
 
interest.
 
Had
 
the
 
finding
 
of
 
these
investigations
 
been
 
that
 
there
 
was
 
an
 
increase
 
in
 
deaths,
 
that
 
finding
 
would
 
have
 
reflected
 
poorly
 
upon
 
Dr
 
Lester
 
in
 
the
 
context
 
of
 
criticisms
 
about
 
how
 
she
 
discharged
 
her
 
role
 
during
 
the
 
mine
 
fire.
 
This
 
should
 
have
 
been
 
plain
 
both
 
to
 
Dr
 
Lester
 
and
 
to
 
those
 
more
 
senior
 
to
 
her
 
within
 
the
 
Department
 
of
 
Health.
Under 
s.20(
2) of the Public Health
 
Act, the Chief Health Officer is subject to the general direction 
and 
control
 
of
 the
 
Secretary
 of 
the
 
Department
 
of Health.
 
The
 
Board
 
considers
 
that,
 
in
 these
 
circumstances,
 
it
 
would
 
have been
 more
 appropriate
 for
 
the
 
Secretary
 
to
 
appoint
 someone
 with
 
no
 
v
ested interest in the outcome to oversee investigations into whether the mine fire contributed to 
deaths
 
in
 the
 Latrobe
 
V
alley
.
) (
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8.3
 
PROCEDURAL
 
FAIRNESS
Dr
 
Lester
 
and
 
GDF
 
Suez
 
were
 
granted
 
leave
 
to
 
appear
 
before
 
the
 
Board
 
of
 
Inquiry
.
 
Both
 
parties
 
complained
 
that
 
they
 
were
 
not
 
accorded
 
procedural
 
fairness
 
by
 
the
 
Board
.
 
Those
 
concerns
 
are
 
addressed
 
in
 
this
 
section
 
of
 
the
 
report.
First,
 
it is necessary 
to
 note 
that
 
under 
s.59(
a)
 
of
 the
 
Inquiries
 
Act
 
2014
 
(Vic),
 
the
 
Board
 
is
 required
 
to
 
comply
 
with
 the
 
requirements
 of procedural
 fairness.
 
The
 
requirements
 
of
 
procedural
 fairness
 are not
 
fixed.
 
As
 
Mason J
 
observed
 
in 
Kioa
 
v
 
West:
...
the
 
expression
 
“procedural
 
fairness”
 
more
 
aptly
 
conveys
 
the
 
notion
 
of
 
a
 
flexible
 
obligation
 
to
 
adopt 
fair
 
procedures
 
which
 
are
 
appropriate
 
and
 
adapted
 
to
 
the
 
circumstances
 
of
 
the
 
particular
 
case.
 
The
 
statutory
 
power
 
must
 
be
 
exercised
 
fairly,
 
that
 
is,
 
in
 
accordance
 
with
 
procedures
 
that
 
are
 
fair
 
to
 
the
 
individual
 
considered
 
in
 
the
 
light
 
of
 
the
 
statutory
 
requirements,
 
the
 
interests
 
of
 
the
 
individual
 
and
 
the
 interests
 
and
 
purposes,
 
whether
 
public
 
or
 
private,
 
which
 the statute seeks to
 advance
 
or
 
protect
 
or
 
permits
 
to
 be
 
taken 
into
 
account
 
as
 
legitimate
 considerations.
90
Applying
 
this
 
approach,
 
the
 
Board’s
 
objective
 
was
 
to
 
conduct
 
the
 
Inquiry
 
in
 
a
 
manner
 
that
 
enabled
 
all
 
parties
 
granted
 
leave
 
to
 
appear
 
to
 
be
 
provided
 
with
 
all
 
relevant
 
evidence
 
before
 
the
 
Board,
 
and
 
to
 
be
 
given
 
an
 
opportunity
 
to
 
test
 
that
 
evidence
 
by
 
examining
 
witnesses
 
and
 
making
 
submissions
 
to
 
the
 
Board.
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ADVERSE
 
FINDINGS
 
AGAINST
 
DR
 
LESTER
 
In his final address to the Board on 9 September 2015, at the conclusion of the public hearings in 
Morwell
,
 
Senior
 Counsel 
for
 
Dr
 
Lester 
submitted
 
that
 
Dr
 
Lester had
 
been
 
denied procedural
 fairness
 
because Counsel
 
Assisting
 
had
 
not given her
 
an opportunity 
to
 
respond
 
to
 
various
 
matters submitted
 
that provided the factual basis for adverse findings again
st 
Dr
 
Lester.
One of the adverse findings that Counsel
 
Assisting submitted the Board should make was that it was a conflict of interest for 
Dr
 Lester personally to investigate claims by 
Voices
 of the 
Valley
 and then
 
manage subsequent 
expert
 
investigations
 
into
 
its
 
concerns.
91
Over
 
the
 
course
 
of
 
Dr
 Lester
 
giving
 
evidence on
 2
 
September
 2015,
 
Counsel
 
Assisting,
 
raised
 
the
 
issue of a conflict of interest:
Counsel
 
Assisting: Can I ask a little bit about the engagement of the University of Melbourne?
 
Dr
 Lester: 
M’mm
Counsel
 
Assisting:
 
You
 
personally
 
contacted
 
the
 
department
 
of
 
epidemiology
 
to
 
engage
 
them
 
to
 
do
 
work,
 
is 
that
 
right?
Dr
 Lester:
 
Yes,
 I did.
Counsel
 
Assisting:
 
You
 
had
 
of
 
course
 
been
 
the
 
subject
 
of
 
some
 
criticism
 
in
 
the
 
first
 
Hazelwood
 
Mine
 
Fire
 
Inquiry
 Report?
Dr
 Lester: 
M’mm
Counsel
 
Assisting:
 
About
 
the
 
communication
 
of
 
the
 
evacuation
 
information
 
and
 
warning
 
to
 
the
 
community
 
of
 
the
 
Latrobe
 
Valley
 
and
 
Morwell
 
in
 
particular,
 
did
 
you
 
think
 
that
 
it
 
might
 
have
 
been
 
better
 
if
 
someone
 
other
 
than
 
you
 
within
 
the
 
department
 
was
 
responsible
 
for
 
engaging
 
Melbourne
 
University,
 
in
 
other
 
words
 
did
 
you
 
feel
 
that
 
you
 
may
 
have
 
had
 
a
 
conflict
 
of
 
interest
 
in
 
doing
 
this
 
work?
Dr
 
Lester:
 
No,
 
I
 
don’t
 
believe
 
that
 
I
 
had
 
a
 
conflict
 
of
 
interest.
 
I
 
went
 
to
 
the
 
University
 
of
 
Melbourne 
as
 
a
 
very
 
reputable
 
internationally
 
recognised
 
unit
 
of
 
epidemiology
 
and
 
biostatistics
 
that
 
were
 
quite
 
independent
 
from
 
anything
 
that
 
had
 
been
 
to
 
do
 
with
 
the
 
fire
 
and
 
I
 
thought
 
they
 
would
 
bring
 
a
 
very 
expert independent 
set
 of eyes 
to
 
the
 data.
Counsel
 
Assisting:
 
I
 
understand
 
that
 
but
 
did
 
it
 
not
 
occur
 
to
 
you
 
that
 
it
 
might
 
have
 
been
 
better
 
if
 
you 
were at 
arm’s
 length 
from
 
that
 process, put it 
that
 
way?
Dr
 Lester:
 
No,
 
look,
 
I
 
don’t
 
agree
 
with
 
that.
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Other matters that Counsel
 
Assisting submitted should result in adverse findings against 
Dr
 Lester 
were
 raised
 with
 
her
 
in
 a
 
similar
 
fashion.
In his final address to the Board, 
Dr
 Lester’s counsel submitted that 
Dr
 Lester had not been
 
sufficiently challenged by Counsel
 
Assisting on these matters.
 
After referring to the quoted section
of
 
the
 
transcript
 above, 
Senior
 Counsel 
for
 
Dr
 
Lester 
submitted
 
that
 
‘[
i
]t
 
was never 
then
 gone on,
 the
 
questioning never
 then
 
went
 
on
 to
 
say
 
to
 
her
 
well,
 you
 
were
 
wrong about
 that,
 
you
 
did
 
h
ave
 
and 
I 
want
 
to suggest to
 
you that
 
you did
 
have a
 
conflict of
 
interests; that
 
was never
 
put.’
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This
 
submission
 appears
 to
 be
 
based
 
on
 
the
 proposition
 that
 
the
 
rule
 in
 
Browne v 
Dunn
94
 
applies
 
to
 
a
 
Board
 
of 
Inquiry
 established under 
Part
 
3
 
of
 the
 
Inquiries
 
Act
 
2014
 
(Vic).
 
As
 was explained
 
by
 
Gummow
 
and
 
Heydon
 JJ 
of 
the
 High
 
Court,
 
‘the
 rule
 
requires
 
the
 
cross-examiner
 of
 a
 
witness
 
in
adversarial
 litigation 
to
 put 
to
 
that
 
witness
 the
 
nature
 
of 
the
 
case
 
on
 
which 
the
 
cross-examiner’s
 
client
 
proposes 
to
 
rely
 in 
contradiction
 of 
that
 witness.’
95
 
In
 
effect 
Senior
 
Counsel
 for
 
Dr
 Lester
 contended
 
that
 
his
 client
 
was
 
not 
cross-examined
 by
 
Counsel
 
Assisting.
The
 
Board
 
considers
 
that,
 
because
 
it
 
is not
 
bound
 
by 
the
 
rules
 of evidence
 
or
 
any practices
 
or
 
procedures applicable
 to
 
a
 
court
 of
 record,
 
the
 
rule
 in 
Browne
 
v 
Dunn
 
has no
 
application
 to
 
this
 
Inquiry.
 
Counsel
 
Assisting
 
the
 
Board 
has
 
no
 
‘client’
 
and
 
had
 
no
 
‘case’
 
to 
put
 
against
 
Dr
 
Lester.
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However,
 
even
 
if
 the
 
rule
 in
 
Brown
 
v 
Dunn
 
applies
 
and
 
Counsel
 
Assisting
 had
 such
 
a
 
duty
,
 the
 
Board
 
is satisfied that it was met in the examination of 
Dr
 Lester during the public hearings in 
Morwell
.
Further,
 at
 the
 
conclusion
 
of
 the
 hearing,
 the
 
Board
 accepted
 a
 
submission
 by
 
Counsel
 
Assisting 
 
that
 
Dr
 Lester be permitted
 
to file a further
 
statement with the 
Board.
97
 
In
 
response to
 
this
 invitation,
 
Senior Counsel for 
Dr
 Lester specifically reserved 
Dr
 Lester’s right to file a supplementary statement
 
with
 
the
 
Board.
98
A
 
further supplementary statement of 
Dr
 
Lester,
 dated 28 September 2015, was in due course filed
 
with
 the
 
Board
 and
 tendered
 by
 
Counsel
 
Assisting
 at
 the
 hearing
 
on
 
22
 October
 2015.
99
 
In
 
that
 
statement, 
Dr
 Lester addressed each of the matters identified in the submissions of Counsel
 
Assisting that provided
 
the
 
basis
 
for the
 
Board
 
to
 
make
 
adverse findings
 
concerning
 
Dr
 
Lester’s
 
conduct.
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In relation to the question of conflict of interest, 
Dr
 
Lester’s further statement refers to paragraph
 
94 of 
the
 
submissions
 
of Counsel
 
Assisting,
 dated 
8
 
September
 
2015, which 
states
 
that
 ‘the
 
[Department]
 
response
 
to
 
the
 
issue
 [of
 increased deaths]
 should
 have
 
been overseen
 
by
 someone
with
 
no
 
vested
 interest
 
in
 the 
outcome.’
101
 
Dr
 
Lester
 
then stated
 ‘this
 
proposition
 
was
 
never
 
put
 
to
 
me
 
either.
 If 
it
 
had
 
been
 
put
 to me, I 
would
 
have
 
denied
 
it.’
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The
 
Board
 
noted
 
in 
Part
 
1
 of 
this
 
report
 
that
 
s.76
 
of
 the
 
Inquiries
 
Act
 2014 
(Vic)
 imposes
 
on 
a
 
Board
 
constituted
 
under 
Part
 
3
 
of 
the
 
Act
 
a
 
procedure which 
must
 be
 followed
 
in 
relation
 
to
 
proposed adverse
 
findings.
 
This is an important aspect of the requirements of procedural fairness.
For
 
the
 
reasons
 outlined above,
 the
 
Board
 
considers
 
that
 
Dr
 Lester
 
was
 
appropriately apprised
 
of
 the
 
factual matters said by Counsel
 
Assisting to provide a basis for adverse findings to be made against 
her
,
 
and
 
given
 
an
 
opportunity
 to respond 
as
 required 
by
 the 
principles
 
of
 
procedural
 
fairness.
103
The
 
Board
 has
 considered
 
the
 
various
 
responses
 
made
 by
 
and on
 
behalf
 
of
 
Dr
 
Lester
 
and,
 
having
 
determined to make the adverse findings against 
Dr
 Lester outlined above, has fairly set out her 
responses 
pursuant
 
to the
 
Act.
104
) (
THE
 
RE-OPENING
 
OF
 
THE
 
PUBLIC
 
HEARINGS
 
The
 
circumstances
 in
 
which
 the
 Inquiry’s
 
public
 
hearings
 
were
 re-opened
 have
 
been
 
described
 
in
 
Part
 
6
 
of 
this
 
report.
When the parties were notified of the 
Board’s
 intention to re-open the hearings to consider further
 
reports
 
that
 
came
 
to
 
light
 
after 
9
 
September
 
2015,
 complaints
 
of 
a
 
lack
 
of procedural 
fairness
 
were
 
made
 
on
 
behalf of both
 
Dr
 Lester
 
and 
GDF
 
Suez
 
in
 correspondence
 
to
 
the
 
Board’s
 
solicitor.
 
These
 
complaints 
were
 
repeated 
in
 
written
 
submissions
 
to the 
Board.
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In
 
recognition
 of 
these
 
concer
ns,
 
at
 the
 
commencement
 
of
 the
 
hearing
 
on
 
22 
October
 2015, 
the
 Chair
 
of the Board made the following remarks:
It’s
 
appropriate
 
that
 
we,
 
the
 
Board,
 
offer
 
explanation
 
for
 
the
 
course
 
of
 
events
 
that
 
has
 
led
 
to
 
the
 
hearing
 
today.
 
We
 
are
 
here
 
because
 
the
 
Board
 
has
 
dealt
 
with
 
certain
 
events
 
in
 
a
 
way
 
that
 
has
 
been
 
calculated
 
to
 
maximise
 
procedural
 
fairness.
 
At
 
the
 
conclusion
 
of
 
the
 
hearing
 
of
 
submissions
 
on
 
September
 
9...the
 
announced
 
intention
 
of
 
the
 
Board
 
[was]
 
that
 
that
 
was
 
the
 
end
 
of
 
the
 
hearings
 
on
 
T
erm
 
of Reference 6.
Subsequently,
 
two
 
developments
 
caused
 
the
 
Board
 
to
 
reconsider
 
that
 
announcement.
 
Both
 
involved
 
the
 
receipt
 
of
 
materials
 
that
 
were
 
not
 
expected
 
by
 
the
 
Board,
 
by
 
Counsel
 
Assisting
 
or
 
by
 
anyone
 
within
 
the
 
Secretariat
 
when
 
the
 
last
 
hearings
 
concluded.
 
The
 
first
 
materials
 
were
 
those
 
received
 
from 
Associate
 
Professor
 
Barnett.
 
The
 
second
 
materials
 were 
those
 
received
 
from
 
Dr
 Johnston.
Despite
 
the
 
major
 
dilemmas
 
raised
 
by
 
the
 
provision
 
of
 
those
 
materials,
 
the
 
Board
 
does
 
not
 
criticise
 
either
 
of
 
the
 
two
 
experts.
 
It
 
accepts
 
that
 
the
 
motive
 
for
 
providing
 
the
 
information
 
was
 
to
 
assist
 
the
 
Board
 
to
 
arrive
 
at 
more
 
satisfying
 
conclusions
 
on
 
T
erm
 of Reference
 
6.
In
 
both
 
cases
 
the
 
Board
 
spent
 
considerable
 
time
 
in
 
robust
 
discussion
 
as
 
to
 
the
 
course
 
to
 
be
 
followed.
 
One
 
solution
 
to
 
the
 
dilemma
 
was
 
to
 
insist
 
that
 
the
 
announced
 
deadline
 
must
 
be
 
observed
 
regardless
 
of other
 considerations.
 
The
 
Board
 was
 
primarily
 concerned
 
with
 
questions
 
of procedural
 fairness.
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While
 
observing
 
the
 
deadline had its limitations, 
so
 
too
 
did 
the
 
other options and 
the
 
Board
 
had also
 
to
 
be
 
concerned with
 
issues of
 
inconvenience 
to
 
parties.
 
The
 
Board
 also
 
had 
to
 
allow 
for
 
restrictions
 
as 
to
 
time
 
and
 
as 
to
 
costs 
imposed on it under
 
its
 
T
erms
 of
 
Reference.
The
 
Board
 
concluded
 
that
 
the
 
compromise
 ultimately arrived at,
 
which involved 
the
 hearing
 
of 
some
 
further
 
evidence
 
and
 
then
 
the
 
hearing
 
of
 
further
 
final
 
submissions,
 
was
 
the
 
least
 
unsatisfactory
 
of
 
the 
options.
 
That
 
compromise
 
involved
 
substantial
 
inconvenience
 
to
 
several
 
academic
 
witnesses
 
and
 
to
 
parties
 
and
 
to
 
their 
legal
 representatives 
and
 to members
 of
 
the 
public.
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The
 
Board
 does not
 consider
 
that
 either 
Dr
 
Lester or
 GDF
 
Suez
 have been
 
denied procedural
 fairness
 
in
 
the conduct of the 
Inquiry.
 
The Board has fulfilled its obligations
 
pursuant to the 
Inquiries
 
Act
 2014
 
(Vic)
 and
 
its
 
T
erms
 
of
 
Reference in
 the
 
conduct
 
of
 the
 Inquiry.
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TIONS,
 
AFFIRM
A
TIONS
AND
 
RECOMMEND
A
TIONS
In response to
 
Term
 of Reference 6, the Board makes two principal findings:
It
 is
 
likely
 that
 
there
 was
 
an
 
increase in
 
deaths
 
in 
the
 Latrobe
 
V
alley
 
between 
February
 and
 June
 
2014
 
when
 compared
 with
 the
 
same
 period
 
during
 
2009–2013.
It is likely that the Hazelwood mine fire contributed to some of the increase in deaths in the 
Latrobe 
V
alley
 
in
 
2014.
These findings are based on epidemiological reasoning informed by statistical analysis and 
interpretation.
 
As the
 
Board's
 
principal
 
exper
t,
 Professor
 
Bruce
 
Armstrong,
 
a
 
medical
 
practitioner,
 
public health
 
physician
 
and epidemiologist
 from
 
the
 
School
 of
 Public
 Health, University
 
of
 
Sydney,
 
has 
stated—epidemiology
 is
 
not
 
an
 
exact
 science.
 
Accordingly
 
there
 is
 
no
 
absolute
 
proof 
for
 
these
 
findings,
 rather they are the most reasonable judgment based on the available evidence. Given the 
known
 
health 
consequences
 of breathing air
 contaminated
 
with
 
particulate 
matter
 over
 a
 
prolonged
 
period, it would be surprising if the air pollution caused by
 the mine fire did not contribute to some 
deaths. However
 
because
 
of 
the
 imprecise
 
nature of
 the
 analysis, it
 
is
 
not possible
 to
 attribute
 
any
 
specific death to the mine fire.
This
 
Inquiry
 has
 
been
 a
 
lengthy,
 
laborious
 
and
 costly
 process
 requiring
 
the
 
cooperation
 and
 
goodwill
 
of 
many
 
organisations
 
and individuals,
 
often
 
at
 short
 
notice.
 
The
 
Board
 wonders whether
 
alternative
 
approaches 
could
 have
 
avoided 
the
 anxieties
 
and
 concerns
 
that
 
the
 Latrobe 
V
alley
 community
 has
 
raised
 
for
 
more
 
than
 
a
 
year.
 
At
 
the
 
heart of 
the
 
matter
 are issues of openness, engagement and 
trust
 
between government
 
agencies
 
and
 the
 
community.
In
 
the
 
2014
 
Hazelwood
 
Mine
 
Fire
 
Inquiry
, 
the
 
Board
 
found
 
that
 
there
 
were
 
shortcomings
 
in
 
the
 
way
 
that
 
the
 
State
 
engaged
 
and
 
communicated
 
with
 
the
 
Latrobe
 
V
alley
 
community
 
regarding
 
the
 
public
 
health
 
impact
 
of
 
the
 
mine
 
fire.
 
Unfortunately
 
the
 
Department
 
of
 
Health
 
came
 
to
 
a
 
premature
 
view
 
about
 
the
 
possibility
 
of
 
an
 
increase
 
in
 
deaths
 
in
 
the
 
Latrobe
 
Valley
 
due
 
to
 
the
 
mine
 
fire.
 
In
 
the
 
Board's
 
opinion,
the
 
Department
 
became
 
defensive
 
in
 
response
 
to
 
community
 
concerns.
 
Had
 
the
 
Department
 
adopted
 
a
 
more
 
open
 
and
 
engaged
 
approach,
 
the
 
need
 
to
 
re-open
 
the
 
Inquiry
 
may
 
have
 
been
 
avoided.
 
Similar
 
findings
 
to
 
that
 
made
 
by
 
the
 
Board
 
may
 
well
 
have
 
been
 
reached
 
earlier
 
and
 
at
 
less
 
expense.
There
 
are
 
broader lessons
 to
 be learnt
 from
 
this
 
Inquiry
 
that
 have universal
 
application.
 With
 
increasing
 
health
 
literacy
 
amongst
 
individuals
 
and
 communities,
 
coupled
 with
 
greater
 community
 
confidence and empowerment to question 
authority,
 and with improved information and
 
communication
 technology,
 
it is
 
inevitable 
that
 
similar
 
situations
 
of
 
acute 
community
 
concern
 
will occur
 
in 
the
 
future.
 
This
 
will be 
challenging
 
for
 
the
 
State
 and other 
ser
vice
 and industry 
organisations
 
          
to
 
manage
 in
 a
 
timely
 
and
 responsive
 
way
.
 
As the
 
Board
 highlighted
 
in
 
its
 
2014 Hazelwood
 Mine
 
Fire
 
Inquiry
 
Report,
 these
 
challenges
 
call
 
for
 
a
 
fundamental
 
rethink
 of 
community
 engagement
 
approaches
 
and in particular management of issues and crises. Boards of Inquiry by definition occur after the 
event.
 
An
 early
 
intervention
 
and
 
preventive
 
approach
 
is
 much
 
more
 preferable.
The
 
conclusions
 
reached
 
in
 
this
 
report
 
also
 
have
 
a
 
bearing
 
on
 
T
erm
 
of
 
Reference
 
7,
 
which
 
concerns
 
health
 
improvements
 
required
 
in
 
the
 
Latrobe
 
V
alley
.
 
Consideration
 
of
 T
erm
 
of
 
Reference
 
7
 
is
 
already
 
well
 
advanced
 
and
 
the
 
Board
 
will
 
present
 
its
 
report
 
to
 
the
 
Governor
 
on
 
29
 
January
 
2016.
 
The
 
Board
 
will
 
also
 
give
 
further
 
consideration
 
to
 
the
 
remit
 
and
 
governance
 
of
 
the
 
Hazelwood
 
Mine
 
Fire
 
Health
 
Study
.
In light of the findings for
 
Term
 of Reference 6 of the 
Inquiry,
 the Board makes the following
 
commendations, affirmations and recommendations.
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COMMENDATIONS
The Board commends:
) (
•
) (
The
 
State
 of 
Victoria
 
for
 
re-opening
 
the
 
Inquiry
 
to
 
address 
the
 
concerns
 of 
the
 
Latrobe 
V
alley
 
community that the possibility of increased deaths from the mine fire had not been adequately 
investigated
 
and
 communicated.
Voices
 of
 the
 
V
alley
 for
 
their
 
concern,
 
enterprise,
 
and
 
persistence in
 
pursuing an
 
investigation
 
into possible increases in death as a consequence of the Hazelwood mine fire.
Associate
 
Professor
 
Adrian
 
Barnett
 
for
 undertaking 
mortality
 analyses
 
in
 a
 
timely
 
and
 rigorous
 
way
,
 
and
 
on
 a
 pro
 
bono
 
basis.
Professor
 
Bruce
 
Armstrong,
 and
 the
 other
 
experts
 
who 
contributed
 
to
 
this
 
Inquiry—
 
Professor
 
Michael
 
Abramson,
 
Associate
 
Professor
 
Adrian
 
Barnett,
 
Dr
 Louisa
 
Flander
,
 
Professor
 
Ian
 
Gordon,
 
Dr
 Fay
 
Johnston,
 
Professor
 
John
 
McNeil
 and 
Dr
 Philip
 
McCloud—for
 
the
 diligent,
 
responsive
 and
 
authoritative
 manner
 in
 
whic
h
 they
 advised
 the
 
Board.
) (
•
) (
•
) (
•
) (
AFFIRMATIONS
The Board affirms the 
State’s
 commitment to reimburse 
Voices
 of the 
Valley
 the amount it paid to the
 
Victorian 
Registry of 
Births,
 Deaths and 
Marriages
 
for
 
death 
records
 
data.
) (
RECOMMENDATIONS
The Board recommends that:
The
 
State
 
should
 
review
 
the
 
State
 
Smoke
 
Framework
 and 
the
 
Community 
Smoke
 
Air
 
Quality
 
and Health Protocol in light of the findings of this Inquiry about an increased risk of death from air pollution due to fire.
 
The State should 
engage independent expert consultants to assist in 
this
 review.
The
 
State
 
should
 
reconsider, as 
a
 
matter
 of
 
priority,
 its approach 
to
 
improving 
community
 
engagement 
relevant
 
to
 
the
 
health
 
of
 the
 
Latrobe
 
V
alley
,
 
which it
 committed
 
to
 
improving
 
in
 the
 
Hazelwood 
Mine
 
Fire
 
Inquiry
 Report
 
Victorian
 
Government
 
Implementation
 
and
 Monitoring
 
Plan
,
 
October
 2014.
The
 
State
 
should
 
strengthen
 
its
 
processes
 
to
 
ensure
 
that
 
health
 
information
 
provided
 
by
 
the
 
State
 
to
 
the
 
general
 
public
 
is
 
transparent,
 
reliable
 
and
 
appropriate,
 
to
 
facilitate
 
a
 
good
 
understanding
 
of
 
public
 
health
 
issues
 
as
 
required
 
by
 
the
 
Public
 
Health
 
and
 
Wellbeing
 
Act
 
2008
 
(Vic).
The
 
State
 
should
 
mandate
 
a
 
rigorous
 
process 
for
 
the
 
investigation
 
of 
matters
 of public health
 
concern to avoid real or perceived conflicts of interest, which includes requiring independent 
experts 
to
 
declare
 
whether 
the
 
State 
has 
suggested
 any 
substantial
 
changes
 
to
 
their
 advice
 
and
 
whether
 
any
 changes
 have
 
been
 
adopted.
The
 
State should
 
engage
 the
 
Hazelwood 
Mine
 
Fire
 
Implementation
 
Monitor
 
to
 
monitor
 and
 
report
 
publicly,
 
on
 a
 
regular
 basis, 
the
 implementation
 
of
 the
 
recommendations
 adopted by
 
the
 
State
 arising 
from
 
this
 
report.
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